IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL NO. 2008-WC-01097

EARL DEAN TAYLOR

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

VS.

FIRST CHEMICAL and NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY EMPLOYER-CARRIER/APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Earl Dean Taylor, Claimant/Appellant
- 2. National Union Fire Insurance Company, Carrier
- 3. First Chemical, Employer

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Claimant offered substantial evidence that his injury occurred on the job.
- 2. Whether the Commission utilized the correct standard of deference when it rejected the treating physician's opinion as to causation and relied upon the EME's testimony.
- 3. Whether there is credible evidence that the Claimant's cervical herniation was pre-existing, or that it occurred during the Claimant's week vacation following his injury.

i.

ł

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The Appellant, Earl Dean Taylor, appeals the decision by the Honorable Dale Harkey, Circuit Judge of the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, affirming the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision to deny benefits. The Commission affirmed the decision of the Administrative Law Judge, Cindy Wilson, finding that Earl Dean Taylor's injury, which consisted of a large herniated disc at C5-6 is not a compensable injury. Apparently, her decision was based upon her conclusion that the claimant failed to prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence because his version of the incident giving rise to his injury was not credible. (R.E.12,C.R. 33)¹. She also found that his condition was pre-existing. (R.E.10-12, C.R.27, 31-33). She largely ignored the treating physician's opinions as to causation, noting that he did not have earlier medical records at the time of his deposition. (R.E.12, C.R. 33). She relied instead upon the testimony of the Employer's Medical Examiner, Dr. Wolfson, who believed that the accident could not have occurred at work because the herniation was so large that Taylor could not have continued to work after his injury. The Claimant would show that there is substantial proof in the record that he suffered a compensable injury, and that he has been totally disabled as a result.

B. Course of Proceedings

On December 19, 2004, the Claimant, Earl Dean Taylor, who had worked for First Chemical for more than 20 years, injured himself while lifting a heavy air pack off of his back

¹References to the record of the Workers Compensation Commission are designated as (C.R.__) and references to the record from the Circuit Court are the usual (R.__). References to the transcript of the ALJ transcript are (ALJ Tr.__), and the Circuit Court transcript is the usual (Tr.__). References to the the exhibits introduced at the ALJ hearing are referenced by (W.C. Exh.__). Claimant's deposition cites are designated (Depo.__). This is necessary because the Clerk's office did not retain a copy of the record it received from the Workers Compensation Commission for use by the attorneys in preparing their briefs.

while performing a safety drill on the job. (ALJ Tr. 15,16). This injury resulted in a large herniated disc in his neck and it re-injured his back.

Because the incident occurred just one hour before the Claimant's Christmas vacation, he did not report it, believing it to be a strained muscle. (ALJ Tr. 18-19). However, when he returned to work on December 27, 2004, he found that he could not pull his weight up a ladder with his arms.(ALJ Tr. 20-21). He reported the injury to his employer at that time. (*Id.*)

In order to avoid a "lost time" accident, following his injury, First Chemical allowed the Claimant to come to work and sit at a desk with virtually no responsibilities at full pay. (Depo. 55-56). He was treated by doctors chosen by his employer before he was finally referred to Dr. John McCloskey, a neurosurgeon. Dr. McCloskey diagnosed the Claimant with a herniated disk in his cervical spine and recommended a fusion. (W.C. Exh. 3).

Ultimately, the Employer and Carrier denied responsibility for the Claimant's injuries maintaining they were not work related. Although the Employer had referred the Claimant to company doctors for treatment, ultimately he was required to find other means to pay these physicians. When the Employer and Carrier denied the claim, the Claimant retained Ray Mitchell to represent him and a Petition to Controvert was prepared on April 15, 2005 and filed April 19, 2005 alleging that the Claimant had injured his neck and back while lifting an air pack on December 19, 2004. (C.R. 1) In response to the Petition, the Employer and Carrier admitted that the accident arose out of the Claimant's employment. However, they denied that the accident caused any disability. (C.R. 3) Pretrial Statements were completed by the parties during October, 2005, and again in December, 2005, and eventually the case was heard on August 23, 2006.

.

After a hearing, the Administrative Law Judge, Cindy Wilson, issued an opinion denying benefits on October 31, 2006 on the stated ground that the testimony of the Claimant was not credible. (R.E., 3-15; C.R. 22-34). Her decision was appealed to the Workers' Compensation Commission, which, after allowing the Claimant to supplement the record with the deposition of

3

the Claimant, summarily affirmed the ALJ on March 7, 2007. (R.E. 16; C.R. 51) The Claimant appealed the decision to the Circuit Court of Jackson County on March 23, 2007. (C.R.52). The appeal was assigned to Judge Dale Harkey, who affirmed the Commission after a hearing. (R.71, Tr. 3-30). A notice of Appeal was filed with the Supreme Court on June 24, 2008 (R.74)

II.

<u>THE FACTS</u>

A. The Claimant's Prima Facie Case

At the time of his injury on December 19, 2004, Mr. Taylor was fifty-nine years old and had been employed by First Chemical for approximately twenty years as an Outside Operator. (ALJ Tr. 7). As indicated in the position description included in Exhibit 3, the job had an average work week of forty (40) or more hours in twelve (12) hour shifts. (R.E. 22; W.C. Exh. 3). It was classified as heavy work, and required exerting up to 100lbs. of force occasionally, 50lbs. of force frequently and 20 lbs. of force routinely to move objects. R.E. 20-26; W.C. Exh. 3)). Mr. Taylor described the physical demands of his job as including a lot of climbing, lifting buckets, some of which were "quite heavy" and routinely lifting buckets that weighed 20 or 30 pounds. (ALJ Tr., 11-12).

During the course of his employment with First Chemical, the Claimant herniated a disc in his lumbar spine in the late nineties. He returned to work without drawing any workers' compensation and without having the surgery offered by Dr. McCloskey because he was afraid that it would compromise his ability to do his job. (ALJ Tr. 12-13; WC Exhibit 2). His supervisor, Henry Wilkins observed that Mr. Taylor was faithful about coming to work and never had to be counseled about abuse of his sick leave. (ALJ Tr., 63-64). As an outside operator, Mr. Taylor would work twelve (12) hour shifts, which would alternate weekly between shifts that began at 5:00a.m. and shifts that began at 5:00p.m. (ALJ Tr. 18).

;

Ł

During the course of the hearing before Judge Wilson, Mr. Taylor testified that he was

injured on December 19, 2004, at 4:00 a.m. just one hour before his shift was to end.² (ALJ Tr. 18, 22-24). In his deposition, he also testified that he was working the graveyard shift and was injured at 4:00 a.m. (Depo., 48-49). Because Mr. Taylor also testified that the accident occurred at the end of the day shift, before correcting himself, the Employer claims that he is not credible. Given the fact that his shift changed every week between day shift and graveyard, as well as the number of days worked, his confusion in this regard is understandable.³ According to Mr. Taylor, on December 19th his supervisor ordered a drill where the employees were to strap on their Scott air packs, a piece of safety equipment weighing 30 to 40 lbs, and consisting of a tank on a harness with a mask attached for employees to use in the event of a chemical spill. (ALJ Tr.17-19, 65-66). To facilitate quick accessibility, the tanks were stored in cabinets that have clamps to hold the tank in place. To put on the tank, an employee would back up to the cabinet, slip his arms through the straps, tighten them, and step away, thereby pulling the tank out of the clamps. Mr. Taylor followed this procedure and walked around with the tank as he was instructed to do. When he was returning the tank to its box, while lifting the straps over his head in order to shove the tank back into the cabinet, he felt a sharp pain in his neck radiating into his shoulder blades. (ALJ Tr.17-20). He went to the office to report it, but changed his mind because he thought perhaps it was a pulled muscle and it was his last day to work before a week's vacation. (ALJ Tr. 19). He testified that the reason that he did not report it at the time was because if he could avoid it, he did not want to report an accident so close to the end of the year because it would affect bonuses company wide. (ALJ Tr. pp. 19-21). He also testified that he did not know the severity of his injury at that time. (Id.)

After his injury, Mr. Taylor left work and went to his wife's home in Alabama where he rested and convalesced, taking Aleve and Tylenol for his pain. (ALJ Tr. 19-20). During his

 $^{^{2}}$ Mr. Taylor testified initially that he was working the day shift, and later corrected himself indicating that he worked the graveyard shift.

³According to Taylor, he would work 2 days on and 2 days off and then 3 days on and 2 days off. His shifts would alternate weekly between the night shift and the day shift. (Depo. 49).

vacation, he reported to an hour long mandatory safety meeting at First Chemical, after which his wife drove him back to Alabama. Upon his return to work a week later, he tried to climb a ladder and could not pull his body weight up the ladder. Realizing that his injury was more serious than originally thought, Mr. Taylor reported it to his employer. In the First Report of Injury, the injury was described as "shock in back of neck between shoulders". (R.E. 27, WC Exh. 8). The activity that the employee was engaged in is described as "removing SCBA and returning to rack". And, the event giving rise to his injury, is described as "lifting SCBA from back to the rack it is stored in". Id. The report, which was filled out by a company supervisor, indicates that the injury occurred at 4:00p.m., rather than 4:00a.m. Id. The report does not state whether the shift began at 5:00p.m. or 5:00a.m. A relief supervisor filled out the report, rather than the Claimant's regular supervisor. (Taylor Depo., p. 60-61).

The company sent Mr. Taylor to Dr. Fineburg on December 27, 2004. The history indicates that Mr. Taylor was "initially injured on December 19th when he was removing his Scott air pack". "He turned to place it in its resting position and felt a sharp pain in the upper mid-back midline." X-rays were taken which, though sub-optimal, appeared to indicate a compression fracture at T6. (R.E. 28-30;WC Exh. 3, WC Exh. 5). Dr. Fineburg referred him to Seaside for physical therapy, where Mr. Taylor reported mid back pain that began 12/19/04 after wearing an air harness weighing 40 to 50 lbs. (WC Exh. 5; R.E. 31). When his symptoms did not improve, he was referred to Dr. Wiggins, an orthopaedic surgeon. At the time of this referral, First Chemical told him that it was contesting his injury and refused to pay for any more treatment for this employee of 20 years. He was told to go to his own doctor to be treated before he could return to his job.⁴

Mr. Taylor did go to Dr. Wiggins on January 17, 2005. The history reported by Dr. Wiggins indicates that the Claimant was injured while "putting on a Scott air pack". (WC Exh.

⁴While in physical therapy at Seaside, Mr. Taylor was given a desk job and continued to work. (Tr. p. 25). (Depo., p. 65-66).

6; R.E. 32-34). Mr. Taylor, however, claims that he told Dr. Wiggins the same thing he told everyone else, that the injury occurred when he was taking the air pack off and putting it up. (ALJ Tr., p 42.) When Dr. Fineburg referred Mr. Taylor to Dr. Wiggins, the focus was on Mr. Taylor's thoracic spine because of the x-ray indicating a possible compression fracture and Mr. Taylor's belief that he had a rotator cuff injury. (R.E. 28-30; WC Exh 5) Dr. Wiggins ordered an MRI of the thoracic spine which revealed nothing more than a few degenerative changes which were not thought to be significant. (R.E.33,WC Exh. 6). Later, he ordered an EMG, from Dr. Bowen in his offices, and Dr. Bowen reports that the patient told him he was injured on December 19, when he was "lifting a Scott air pack off of his back to place it on a rack" and felt "a sharp burning pain in the neck and into the left shoulder blade", which then "spasmed like a rock". The EMG was "abnormal" and indicated sensory loss at both 5th digits, and electro physiologic evidence of an acute right C-8 radiculopathy in the cervical spine. (R.E.35-37, WC Exh. 6).

ſ

After reviewing the EMG, Dr. Wiggins referred Mr. Taylor to Dr. John McCloskey, a neurosurgeon, who first saw the Claimant on March 15, 2005. Dr. McCloskey had treated the Claimant some years before for his back. On the initial intake sheet, the history reported by Mr. Taylor was that he was injured on December 19 removing a Scott Air Pack when he felt a sharp pain the back of his neck to shoulder blades. (R.E. 12, WC Exh. 3). Dr. McCloskey's later notes sometimes indicate that the injury occurred on December 12 and sometimes December 19, but the reasons for this are unclear. (WC Exh. 3). Again, the intake information provided by the Claimant is consistent with the history he gave to his other providers. (R.E. 39; WC Exh. 3)

Dr. McCloskey ordered an MRI and a myelogram, which revealed a large herniated disc at C5-6 and significant abnormalities at C4-5 and C6-7. Dr. McCloskey recommended surgery, and performed a three level fusion on or about April 25, 2005. (R.E. 40-43; WC Exh. 3). Initially, Dr. McCloskey released Mr. Taylor to return to work in January of 2006, but his employer had nothing for him with his restrictions, and despite his efforts, the Claimant could not find any other work. (R.E.43, WC Exh.3; ALJ Tr. 28). Later, Dr. McCloskey found the Claimant to be totally disabled due to the fact that his condition did not improve as expected. (WC Exh. 3).

In his deposition, Dr. McCloskey testified that the Claimant's injuries were caused by the December 19, 2004 accident at First Chemical, that the various histories he provided to his treating physicians were consistent, and that in his opinion, even if the Claimant had a pre-existing neck injury, he was able to perform heavy work up to the day of the accident on December 19, 2004, and not after. (WC Exh. 2; 9-14). Dr. McCloskey considered the disc herniation to be a significant disabling injury. <u>Id.</u> It is uncontested that the Claimant never returned to heavy work after this injury, except when he tried to climb the ladder after returning to work from his Christmas vacation.

B. The Employer/Carrier's Defense

To justify its failure to pay Workers' Compensation benefits to Mr. Taylor, First Chemical's position was presented to the ALJ in closing by its attorney, Robert Briggs.

"This injury was already starting to happen. Obviously, when he went to Alabama on his vacation, he picked up some limb and he herniated it. I mean, that's the only reasonable conclusion you come to... So the inference, the circumstantial evidence, point to the fact that he actually did injure himself during his vacation back in Alabama cleaning up his yard." (ALJ Tr., p 83).

In two sentences, the employer argues first, that the Claimant had a pre-existing condition, and second, that he really was injured after the accident during the Christmas vacation picking up limbs. However, there is no evidence to support this alleged later injury. The only testimony relating to the Claimant picking up limbs came from one of his supervisors, Henry Wilkins. Mr. Wilkins remembered that after Hurricane Ivan, which hit Alabama in September of 2004, weeks or months <u>before</u> the December injury, Mr. Taylor complained occasionally that he was tired after picking up limbs at his in-laws' home in Atmore, Alabama after the storm.

When questioned about this, Mr. Taylor remembered that just after Hurricane Ivan struck, he picked up a few limbs weighing less than 20 pounds, but that the bulk of the clean-up was done by others. (ALJ Tr. 46-47). This was confirmed by his mother-in-law, Bobbie Frazier, who testified that her yard was cleaned up by people from the Baptist Association, and that cleanup was completed within a month. (ALJ Tr. 60-61). There is no testimony from anyone that the Claimant did anything during the 2004 Christmas vacation other than rest and attend a safety meeting. Certainly, there is no proof or testimony that he was picking up limbs, and Mr. Briggs made this assertion with nothing in the record to back it up.

As for the employer's claim that the injury was pre-existing, there is a record from Dr. Westbrook dated August 17, 2004, where the Claimant complained of pain in his left shoulder, which the Claimant subsequently described as a rotator cuff tear. (WC Exh. 5; R.E. 44-46; ALJ Tr. pp. 13-14). Dr. Westbrook did an x-ray of his left shoulder, which was normal. The Claimant called Dr. Westbrook again on October 6th about his shoulder, and asked for something to help with the pain. However, there was no visit, as Mr. Briggs claimed, and the Claimant did not miss any work because of his shoulder. The Claimant, even as late as the hearing, distinguishes between the pain in his shoulder and the pain associated with his neck injury, claiming that the earlier pain prevented him from moving his arms in certain positions. (ALJ Tr. 13-14). It is undisputed that the Claimant's shoulder never prevented him from working and that he worked continuously until the date of his injury on December 19, 2004. Dr. Wolfson, the Employers Medical Examiner hired by the Employer and Carrier testified that Mr. Taylor could not have worked after he herniated his disk because it was too large and his treating physician, Dr. McCloskey found it to be disabling as well.

,

ĩ

C. Credibility of Witnesses

While issues of credibility are presented by this claim, it is respectfully submitted that they do not involve the Claimant. Part of the confusion about the Claimant's medical condition stems from the fact that Mr. Briggs, in his examination of the Claimant and Dr. McCloskey, questioned them repeatedly about the treatment the Claimant received for his prior shoulder injury by Dr. Fineburg. (ALJ Tr. 49; WC Exh. 2 p. 16-17). Mr. Briggs' assumption that Dr. Fineburg had treated the Claimant for his prior shoulder injury was wrong, as the Claimant was treated by Dr. Westbrook.

(R.E. 44-46; WC Exh 5). Indeed, the Claimant had not been treated by Dr. Fineburg, who was his general physician, since January of 2001. (WC Exh. 5). After his injury the Employer sent the Claimant to a different Dr. Fineburg (the young one), who is a different doctor altogether. (R.E. 28, 30; WC Exh. 5; Depo p. 63-64). There is no question that the Claimant discussed with Dr. McCloskey his prior shoulder problems for which he was treated by Dr. Westbrook, as they are reported in Dr. McCloskey's notes as a prior rotator cuff injury. (R.E. 65; Exh 3) Thus, Mr. Briggs confused the Claimant and the treating physicians with his incorrect assertions about Dr. Fineburg's records, and apparently the Judge as well. In fact, Dr. McCloskey did have the records of young Dr. Fineburg's treatment of the Claimant's injury. (WC Exh. 3). He knew of the prior shoulder problems and testified that because the Claimant was able to continue to perform his job duties after being treated in August for a shoulder injury, he still believed the injury of December, 2004, to be the cause of the C5-6 herniation. (WC Exh 2, p. 15) Dr. Wolfson, the EME agrees that the herniation could not have happened before December 19, because he was of the opinion that the Claimant could not have continued to work. (WC Exh. 1, p. 10).

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