## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2008-WC-01097

#### EARL DEAN TAYLOR

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

VERSUS

i.

## FIRST CHEMICAL AND NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

EMPLOYER AND CARRIER/ APPELLEES

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi; The Honorable Dale Harkey, Circuit Judge, in Earl Dean Taylor, Claimant vs. First Chemical and National Union Fire Insurance Company, Employer/Carrier, Docket No. 2007-00078 and MWCC Case No.: 0504516-J-2419-D

# BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES, FIRST CHEMICAL AND NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

:

.

1

e.

. .

i.

ί.

ξ.

ί.

£.

The medical evidence and lay testimony demonstrates that the lower court correctly affirmed the findings of the Commission that Claimant had failed his burden of proving a compensable work-related injury, finding in favor of the Appellees, the Employer and Carrier.

With regard to the medical evidence within the record, the only medical evidence within the record that links Claimant's cervical disc herniation to his work is the medical opinion of Dr. McCloskey, who admitted during his deposition that he had failed to review relevant medical records, namely those of Dr. Fineburg, which document that Claimant experienced shoulder pain prior to December 2004. Further, Dr. McCloskey noted that these shoulder complaints prior to December 2004 were consistent with a diagnosis of a cervical disc herniation. Therefore, given that Dr. McCloskey failed to review all relevant medical records with regard to Claimant's treatment history and was unaware of prior shoulder complaints, the Appellees assert that any opinion concerning causation and the diagnosis of permanent and total disability with regard to Claimant's neck was tainted.

To the contrary, Dr. Eric Wolfson, evaluated the Claimant for purposes of an Employer Medical Examination and **reviewed the entire relevant medical history of the Claimant.** During the course of his examination, Dr. Wolfson opined that given the size of the disc herniation, the herniated disc and resulting surgery were not related to Claimant's work as an immediate onset of symptoms would have occurred and that an injury to the neck of this magnitude would have caused the Claimant severe pain, even while lying down and would have been unable to work the rest of the day. However, the record reflects that Claimant's activities were not modified in any manner. Given the medical evidence within the record, the Commission's decision to find the testimony of Dr. Wolfson more reliable is supported by the substantial and credible evidence.

Moreover, the decision of the circuit court to affirm the ruling of the Commission is supported by the substantial and credible evidence as during the course of these proceedings, the Claimant's testimony was replete with inconsistencies. Claimant was unable to provide consistent testimony with regard to when the alleged incident occurred. Secondly, the Claimant, on crossexamination, admitted that as a former supervisor, he understood the importance of reporting injuries, but failed to do so even after deliberately seeking out his supervisor on the alleged date of injury following the safety drill. This inconsistency, coupled with the fact that Claimant had previously suffered a lower back injury with the Employer and immediately reported it, despite his thinking it was a minor injury, further emphasizes that the Commission's findings are supported by the evidence within the record. However, perhaps the most telling of all these inconsistencies with regard to Claimant's alleged injury is found in the medical records within the records which indicate varying stories of how Claimant's alleged injury occurred. Based on history provided by the Claimant, the medical records reflect a multitude of ways in which the alleged injured occurred -removing the air pack, wearing the harness, putting on the air pack, backing into the rack to remove the pack, and finally pushing the pack into the rack. Claimant provides no reason for these inconsistencies.

Based on the foregoing, the Appellees aver that the decision of the circuit court should be affirmed as the Commission's holding that Claimant failed to meet his burden in proving a work injury is based on the substantial and credible evidence.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. The circuit court was correct in affirming the decision of the Commission that Claimant failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Claimant suffered a work-related injury on December 19, 2004, as said decision was based on the substantial and credible evidence.

A. Claimant failed to meet his burden in proving that he suffered a work-related injury as the medical evidence, specifically the medical testimony of Dr. John McCloskey, indicates that Dr. McCloskey was provided an incomplete medical history by the Claimant.

As was noted by the lower court, the Commission is afforded great deference, and facts determined by them may not be disturbed on appeal if those facts are supported by substantial evidence. *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Center*, 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Miss. 1997). To establish entitlement to benefits under the Act, the Claimant bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence each element of the claim of disability. *Harrell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision and Travelers Cas. And Surety Company*, 856 So. 2d 503, 506 (Miss. App. 2003). In this instance, Dr. McCloskey testified that Claimant's cervical disc herniation at C5-6, which resulted in surgery, was related to the work related incident which allegedly occurred on December 19, 2004. (Ex. 2 at 13; R.E. at 101). Dr. McCloskey also testified that he based his opinion the injury was work-related on the history received from Claimant concerning his neck injury and symptoms and the radiologic findings. (Ex. 2 at 12; R.E. at 100).

,

On cross-examination, Dr. McCloskey acknowledged that a complaint of severe shoulder pain was a normal symptom frequently associated with a cervical herniated disc. (Ex. 2 at 14; R.E. at 102). Further, Dr. McCloskey agreed upon questioning that pain radiating between the shoulder blades was a common symptom of a cervical herniated disc. *Id.* The medical records of Dr. Fineburg indicate that Claimant was treated by Dr. Westbrook on August 17, 2004, for severe left shoulder pain that he had experienced for several months. (Ex. 5; R.E. at 62). During cross-

-12-

examination, Dr. McCloskey stated Claimant failed to tell him of any significant problems to his shoulders prior to December 2004. (Ex. 2 at 15-16; R.E. at 103-104). Further, Dr. McCloskey testified he had never reviewed the medical records of Dr. Fineburg, which contained the medical opinions of Dr. Westbrook, which note Claimant's shoulder problems prior to December 2004. (Ex. 2 at 16; R.E. at 104). Also, Dr. McCloskey stated that he was unaware that Claimant was asked to undergo an MRI to his left shoulder prior to December 2004, yet the MRI did not occur. *Id.* 

Dr. McCloskey confirmed that shoulder pain was a common symptom of a neck herniation at C5-6. (Ex. 2 at 17; R.E. at 105). Additionally, Dr. McCloskey acknowledged that his opinion that the December 2004 injury was work-related was based on the history provided by the Claimant. *Id.* To questioning, Dr. McCloskey replied that his opinion might change had a different history been provided. *Id.* 

The employer medical examiner Dr. Eric Wolfson opined that due to the size of the disc herniation at C5-6, the herniated disc and resulting surgery were not work-related as immediate symptomology would have occurred. (Ex. 1 at 10; R.E. at 139). Further, Dr. Wolfson testified that as to the issue of causation, an independent medical examiner was sometimes in a better position than the treating physician to determine causation because and IME is given all of the medical records and able to be more objective due to information from multiple sources. (Ex. 1 at 20; R.E. at 144). Dr. Wolfson opined due to the tremendous size of the cervical herniation, had the Claimant experienced the herniation at work, **the Claimant would have been unable to work the rest of the day, then go home only to realize 8 days later he had this large disc herniation**. (Ex. 1 at 18; R.E. at 142). The record reflects that not only did Claimant continue to work the rest of his shift, but he stopped by to see his supervisor Mr. Wilkins to relay to him that a seal needed to be replaced on his cabinet. Thereafter, Claimant would on vacation to Walnut Hill, Florida, returned to a safety meeting in the middle of the week at work without reporting the injury in the middle of the week, and then on December 26, 2004, reported his injury after allegedly realizing it was more than a pulled muscle. Dr. Wolfson stated an injury to the neck of this magnitude would have caused the Claimant severe pain at all times, even while lying down. (Ex. 1 at 18; R.E. at 142).

Claimant testified he performed clean up work due to Hurricane Ivan at his wife's home in Walnut Hill, Florida, which involved him picking up limbs about six feet long and weighing approximately twenty pounds. (Vol. 4 at 45-46, 50; R.E. at 49-50). Additionally, Mr. Wilkins, Claimant's supervisor, testified that Claimant had told him prior to December 2004 that he went to Atmore, Alabama, to clean up around his in-law's home. (Vol. 4 at 70-71; R.E. at 56-57). Further, Mr. Wilkins testified that prior to December 2004 on more than one occasion Claimant had told him he was doing strenuous clean up work and how tired he was from cleaning and picking up tree limbs. (*Id.* at 70-71; R.E. at 56-57).

Given the evidence within the record, the Commission correctly concluded Claimant failed to meet his burden in proving a work-related injury. Claimant's only medical evidence that links Claimant's cervical disc herniation to a work incident is the medical opinion of Dr. McCloskey. Dr. McCloskey admitted that he did not review all relevant medical records of Dr. Fineburg which note shoulder pain prior to December 2004. More importantly, Dr. McCloskey acknowledged the symptoms experienced by Claimant to his shoulder prior to December 2004 were common symptoms of a cervical disc herniation. Dr. McCloskey noted that his opinion could change depending upon the history provided by the Claimant. Given Dr. McCloskey, by his own admission was provided an incomplete medical history and failed to review all relevant medical records, the medical opinion linking the injury to a work related incident is tainted along with the flip-flop diagnosis of permanent and total disability due to the neck injury as to the Claimant by Dr. McCloskey. Dr. Wolfson

í

£.

provided undisputed medical testimony that had Claimant's cervical disc herniation occurred at work, Claimant would not have been able to finish his shift. Further, Dr. Wolfson, opined that although the Claimant may in fact be disabled, that disability is unrelated to the alleged work-related incident, given the numerous pre-existing maladies suffered by the Claimant and itemized in Claimant's voluminous medical history. The Appellant asserts that Dr. Wolfson relied on erroneous information, but fails to identify the exact nature of the erroneous information. Moreover, the Appellant/Claimant argues that Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-15(1)(1972) does not allow an Employer Medical Examination for purposes of contesting the existence of a work-related injury or causation. However, the Appellees assert this argument, if followed, would suggest that every workers' compensation case would be compensable as compensability or causation could never be a contested issue on behalf of an employer and carrier. This argument by the Appellant is inherently flawed.

As noted herein, Claimant has the burden of proving he suffered a compensable injury. Claimant argues that Claimant has met his burden by having Dr. McCloskey link his injury to the alleged work-related incident. However, the medical evidence and deposition of Dr. McCloskey indicate that Dr. McCloskey did not have a full and complete medical history or medical records concerning Claimant's shoulder complaints.

As such, the Commission properly made a credibility call finding the opinion of Dr. Wolfson more credible than the opinion of Dr. McCloskey, and said finding was supported by the substantial and credible evidence.

# B. The finding that the testimony of Henry Wilkins was more persuasive that the testimony of the Claimant is supported by the substantial and credible evidence.

Claimant was unable to provide consistent testimony as to when the alleged work incident occurred– whether it was during the morning or night shift. To questioning, Claimant initially

-15-

testified that he started working on the date of the injury at 5 a.m. with his shift ending at 5 p.m. (Vol. 4 at 17; R.E. at 38). Later, during the course of the hearing, Claimant testified that he thought the incident occurred during the graveyard shift. (Vol. 4 at 20; R.E. at 41). However, the accident report notes that the time of the work day when the alleged injury occurred began at 5:00 a.m., with a time of injury of 4:00 p.m. (Ex. Cl-8; R.E. at 58).

Mr. Wilkins, Claimant's supervisor, testified that on the date of injury Claimant worked the day shift. (Vol. 4 at 66; R.E. at 52). After all testimony had concluded, Claimant's counsel stated on the record that Claimant was not certain whether he worked the day or night shift on the day of the alleged injury. (Vol.4 at 76; R.E. at 57). Given this inconsistency of Claimant's position as to this issue, the Commission correctly found Claimant equivocal as to when the alleged injury occurred.

Further, Claimant as a former supervisor for the Employer, acknowledged the importance of timely reporting on the job injuries, but failed to so in this instance despite Claimant deliberately seeking out and speaking with his supervisor Mr. Wilkins after the safety drill on the date of the alleged injury. Further, after getting a second opportunity three days later to report the injury, Claimant failed to do so while attending the safety meeting. Finally, given the fact that Claimant previously suffered a lower back injury while working for the Employer and reported it immediately despite his thinking it was a pulled muscle further emphasizes that Claimant has failed to meet his burden in proving his neck injury is work-related. In light of this evidence in the record, the Commission correctly found Mr. Wilkins more persuasive than the Claimant. As such, the decision of the Commission should be affirmed, as the decision was clearly based on the substantial and credible evidence.

:

i

ι.

ι.

ί.

C. The finding that Claimant failed to meet his burden in proving a work-related injury is supported by the substantial and credible evidence as Claimant provided inconsistent medical history to medical providers regarding the alleged work-related injury. In fact, the Claimant's version of his medical history improved with the passage of time.

Claimant's medical history indicates that upon reporting the injury to his Employer, Claimant felt "shock in back of neck between shoulders" while removing SCBA and returning it to the rack. (Ex. Cl-8; R.E. at 58). Upon referral to Dr. Fineburg, Claimant provided a history that he was removing a Scott air pack and turned to place it in a resting position and felt pain in upper midback, midline. (Ex. 5; R.E. at 66). Thereafter, the medical records of Seaside PT Center reveal another inconsistency in Claimant's history noting Claimant was seen for mid-back pain after wearing an air harness weighing 40-50 pounds. (Id.; R.E. at 71). Further inconsistencies in Claimant's medical history are noted upon referral to Dr. Wiggins. The medical history within Dr. Wiggins' medical records indicate that Claimant was injured when putting an air pack onto his back. (Ex. 6; R.E. at 78). Interestingly, the EMG report performed by Dr. Lennon Bowen notes that Claimant's injury occurred when lifting a Scott air pack off of his back to place on a rack at which time he felt a sharp pain to his neck and left shoulder blade. (Ex. 6; R.E. at 85). However, the inconsistencies do not end at this point of the Claimant's medical treatment. Dr. McCloskey's treatment record dated March 25, 2005, notes that Claimant was injured while backing up to the rack to remove the Scott air pack, experiencing pain in back of neck to his shoulder blades. (Ex. 3; R.E. at 110). Yet another inconsistency was noted in Claimant's version of how the alleged injury occurred upon the employer medical examination by Dr. Eric Wolfson. Dr. Wolfson testified Claimant provided him a history that he was pushing the air pack into the rack while at work when the injury occurred. (Ex. 1 at 17; R.E. at 141). A review of the medical evidence clearly demonstrates that Claimant provided inconsistent histories to medical personnel. However, Claimant can provide no explanation as to

à.

how these inconsistencies ended up in the medical record. Further, to questioning, Claimant could provide no reason as to why his story concerning how his injury occurred only became consistent after he filed a lawsuit. (Vol. 4 at 42; R.E. at 48).

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